
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Sandra Pentelow
Tel: (0113) 37 88655

Produced on Recycled Paper

A

SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCTURE AND INVESTMENT)

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Wednesday, 25th October, 2017 at 10.30 am

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 10.00 a.m.)

MEMBERSHIP

Councillors

 N Buckley - Alwoodley;
C Campbell - Otley and Yeadon;

N Dawson - Morley South;
P Gruen - Cross Gates and Whinmoor;

A Ogilvie - Beeston and Holbeck;
D Ragan - Burmantofts and Richmond 

Hill;
E Taylor - Chapel Allerton;

C Towler - Hyde Park and Woodhouse;
P Truswell (Chair) - Middleton Park;

P Wadsworth - Guiseley and Rawdon;

Public Document Pack



B

A G E N D A

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded).

(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting).

2  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1. To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2. To consider whether or not to accept the 
officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information.

3. If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:-

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:

No exempt items have been identified. 



C

3  LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration.

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.)

4  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes.

6  MINUTES - 27 SEPTEMBER 2017

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the 
meeting held on 27 September 2017.

1 - 6

7  SCRUTINY INQUIRY - SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT - SESSION 3

To consider the report of the Head of Governance 
and Scrutiny Support and the Director of City 
Development which provides information with 
regard to the third session of the scrutiny inquiry.

7 - 38

8  WORK SCHEDULE

To consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for 
the 2017/18 municipal year.

39 - 
58

9  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

Wednesday 22 November 2017 10:30am

(pre-meeting for Board Members at 10:00am)



D

THIRD PARTY RECORDING

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those 
not present to see or hear the proceedings either as 
they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of 
those proceedings.  A copy of the recording protocol is 
available from the contacts on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of practice

a) Any published recording should be 
accompanied by a statement of when and 
where the recording was made, the context 
of the discussion that took place, and a clear 
identification of the main speakers and their 
role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the 
recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the 
proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at 
any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 25th October, 2017

SCRUTINY BOARD (INFRASTRUCTURE AND INVESTMENT)

WEDNESDAY, 27TH SEPTEMBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor P Truswell in the Chair

Councillors N Buckley, C Campbell, 
P Gruen, J McKenna, J Pryor, D Ragan, 
C Towler and P Wadsworth

20 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests declared at the 
meeting.

21 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were submitted by Cllr N Dawson, Cllr A Ogilvie and 
Cllr E Taylor. Cllr N Dawson was substituted by Cllr J Pryor and Cllr A Ogilvie 
was substituted by Cllr J McKenna.
 

22 Minutes - 19 July 2017 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 2017 be 
approved as a correct record.

23 Transport for Leeds - Supertram, NGT and Beyond - Draft Scrutiny 
Inquiry Report 

The Head of Governance and Scrutiny Supported submitted the draft Scrutiny 
Inquiry Report, ‘Transport for Leeds – Supertram, NGT and Beyond’, for 
consideration and agreement.

The following information was appended to the report: 

 Draft Scrutiny Inquiry- Transport for Leeds – Supertram, NGT and 
Beyond, 27 October 2017

The following representatives were in attendance to respond to members 
questions: 

 Martin Farrington – Director of City Development
 Gary Bartlett – Chief Highways Officer
 Dave Haskins – Head of Feasibility and Assurance (WYCA)
 Cllr Richard Lewis – Executive Board Member
 Sandra Pentelow – Principal Scrutiny Advisor

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 25th October, 2017

The key areas for discussion were:

 Future investment in the transport infrastructure for Leeds in the short 
term and long term, and the investment of the £173.5m

 The success of park and ride schemes and the aspiration to double 
bus patronage in Leeds.

 The relationship with bus companies and the current approach of 
working in partnership to deliver transport improvements. The Board 
made reference to the recent Bus Services inquiry and the intention to 
understand powers and opportunities made available under the Bus 
Services Act 2017.

 Clarity was sought regarding the intention to consider larger transport 
schemes.

 The importance of connecting communities
 The issue of congestion. The Board requested a report regarding the 

plan for Leeds be brought to the November meeting.
 The Boards intention to ensure that lessons learned with regard to 

consultation and engagement are reflected in further conversations 
across the city.

RESOLVED – 

The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment):
a) Agreed their inquiry report ‘Transport for Leeds – Supertram, NGT and 

Beyond.’
b) Requested a Directors response to the inquiry report in November 

2017
c) Will consider further reports regarding Public Transport Investment and 

Consultation, and Congestion in November 2017 in accordance with 
the work programme of the Scrutiny Board.
 

24 Highway Asset Management - The Approach To Road Surfacing 

The Chief Officer (Highways and Transportation) submitted a report in 
response to the request for scrutiny from Cllr Matthew Robinson regarding 
highways asset management and the approach to road surfacing. 

The following information was appended to the report: 
 Highways Maintenance Funding 2002 to 2021
 Condition Surveys and Condition Banding
 Life-cycle planning and value for money
 Treatment Selection
 Delivery and Monitoring
 Gully Cleaning Service
 Letter to Cllr Paul Truswell from Cllr Matthew Robinson 1 June 2016

The following representatives were in attendance: 
 Gary Bartlett - Chief Highways Officer
 Andrew Molyneux – Highways Asset Manager

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 25th October, 2017

 Cllr Richard Lewis – Executive Board Member
 Cllr Matthew Robinson

The key areas for discussion were:

 The level of investment in carriageway maintenance and the repair of 
footways and kerbs.

 Contract management, and the monitoring and inspection of work. The 
Board was advised that where a failure occurs contractors are asked to 
correct the defect at their own cost. They are also paid on completion 
of a job.

 The removal of invasive weeds and the difficulties of weed treatment 
due to the regulations in place on the use of herbicides.

 Standing water and the treatment of kerbs and gullies during and after 
road treatment.

 The work backlog and the impact of reduced funding. The board was 
advised that the value of the backlog is currently £124m

 The regulation and utilities and working in collaboration with these 
companies to minimise disruptive road works. It was suggested that a 
hotline to report issues would be useful. 

 The perception that investment could be targeted more effectively. 
Slurry top sealing a pavement that was perceived to be in good 
condition was provided as an example. 

 The intention to continue data monitoring for service life of highways 
treatments. 

RESOLVED – The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) noted the 
content of the report in response to the request for Scrutiny.

Cllr P Wadsworth left at 12:10pm during consideration of this item.

25 Scrutiny Inquiry - Sustainable Development - Session 2 

The Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support and the Director of City 
Development submitted a report which provided information to support the 2nd 
session of the scrutiny inquiry into Sustainable Development.

The following representatives were in attendance: 

 David Feeney – Head of Strategic Planning

The key areas of discussion were: 

 It was clarified that there are limitations to sustainable development 
within the planning system and in national planning guidance.  

 The intent behind the NPPF and the regular updates due to Ministerial 
statements and revised planning guidance. 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 25th October, 2017

 Sustainability in planning and its reference to economic development 
and housing growth with little focus on the management of 
environmental resources, air quality, transport, public health or climate 
change. 

 The issues that have arisen relating to housing growth and housing 
numbers, and the 5 year housing land supply, viability of development 
and deliverability and developer contributions of S106 and CIL. 

 Concern about the shortfall of developer CIL and S106 contributions 
and how this is reported and monitored. 

 The perception by some that the NPPF is a Developer’s charter
 The need to seek reassurance that for future planning proposals, 

particularly large ones, that all parts of the Council and partners are 
working properly and genuinely together, including Education, Health 
and Highways authorities.

 A request for examples of planning applications which the council 
turned down in the belief that they were not sustainable and then 
subsequently upheld by planning inspector. 

 Build out rates on brownfield land and the ongoing dialogue with 
Developers.

RESOLVED - The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment):  

a) noted the information contained within the report.
b) requested further information regarding CIL, S106 and planning 

applications referred to above at the October Scrutiny Board meeting.   

26 Work Schedule 

The Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support submitted a report which 
detailed the Scrutiny Board’s draft work programme for the 2017/18 municipal 
year 

The following information was appended to the report: 
 Draft Scrutiny Board Work Schedule 2017/2018 Municipal Year.
 Executive Board Minutes 17 July 2017

Sandra Pentelow, Principal Scrutiny Advisor was in attendance to respond to 
members questions.

The key areas of discussion were:

 the structure of the work programme for the remainder of the municipal 
year and the time framework for the inquiry.

RESOLVED – The Scrutiny Board noted the content of the report and agreed 
the work programme.

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 25th October, 2017

27 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Board will be on Wednesday 25 October 2017 at 
10:30am with a pre-meeting at 10am

The meeting concluded at 13:10pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Report of the Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support and Director of City 
Development  

Report to Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) 

Date: 25 October 2017 

Subject: Scrutiny Inquiry into Sustainable Development in Leeds 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

1. Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 Leeds City Council has an ambition to be the best council in the UK, compassionate 
fair, open and welcoming with an economy that is both prosperous and sustainable, 
so all our communities are successful. The Vision for Leeds 2011 – 2030 supports 
this ambition, stating that by 2030 all communities will be successful where local 
services, including shops and healthcare, are easy to access and meet people’s 
needs. It also states that local cultural and sporting activities are available to all and 
there are high quality buildings, places and green spaces, which are clean, looked 
after, and respect the city’s heritage, including buildings, parks and the history of 
our communities.  The Best Council Plan 2017 – 2018 states that the Council wants 
everyone to live in good quality, affordable homes within clean and well cared for 
places.  

 
1.2 At its meeting on the 21 of June 2017, Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and 

Investment) considered their work programme for the 2017/18 municipal year.  At 
this meeting the Board discussion the approach in Leeds to ‘sustainable 
development’ through the provison of structure that supports the physical and social 
needs of the people, now and in the future, who will ultimately, live, work and spend 
time in their community. The Scrutiny Board stressed the importance of designing 
and planning places that are supported sufficiently by transport, health and 
education infrastructure and services. The Board resolved that this would be the 
main scrutiny inquiry for 2017/18. Terms of reference for the inquiry were agreed on 
the 19 July 2017. 

 

 
Report author:  Sandra Pentelow and 
David Feeney Tel:  0113 2474792 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

 

1.3  This report provides information to support the third session of the inquiry which 
focuses on developer contributions through s106 and CIL monies and their 
responsibility in terms of providing sufficient and appropriate support for sustainable 
development.  

 
2. Recommendation 
 

The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) is recommended to:  
 

i. note the information contained within this report and make recommendations 
as deemed appropriate.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

 

3 Purpose of this report 

3.1 This report provides information to support the third session of the Scrutiny Inquiry 
into Sustainable Development in Leeds. The purpose of this report is to provide the 
Scrutiny Board with an overview of the current system for managing S106 
Agreements and the operation of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in Leeds.   

4. Background 
 
4.1  At its meeting on the 21 of June 2017, Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and 

Investment) considered their work programme for the 2017/18 municipal year.  At 
this meeting the Board discussion the approach in Leeds to ‘sustainable 
development’ through the provison of structure that supports the physical and social 
needs of the people, now and in the future, who will ultimately, live, work and spend 
time in their community. The Scrutiny Board stressed the importance of designing 
and planning places that are supported sufficiently by transport, health and 
education infrastructure and services.  The Board resolved that this would be the 
main scrutiny inquiry for 2017/18. Terms of reference were agreed on the 19 July 
2017, when the first session of the inquiry was undertaken. 

 
4.2 The purpose of the inquiry is to make an assessment of and, where appropriate, 

make recommendations about the delivery of sustainable development in Leeds, 
and the extent to which the local authority can influence sustainable development.  

4.3 Sustainable Development is a wide ranging concept at a global and through to the 
local level and has emerged as a key strand of public policy, with the ambition of 
securing patterns of development, economic prosperity, social progress and the 
management of environmental resources, at the same time.  Whilst a number of 
core elements can be identified, sustainable development has multiple definitions 
and interpretations and has introduced a plethora of new technical language. 

4.4 Sustainable Development is therefore a cross cutting imperative, which aims to take 
a longer term and holistic view and is the responsibility of Governments, the 
business community and wider society, to operate within acceptable limits, to meet 
its objectives.  Within this overall context, and within the UK, the Planning system 
has a key role to play in delivering the principles of sustainable development but it is 
by no means the only mechanism through which these aims might be achieved.  
Planning is also limited in its scope, is impacted by externalities (such as wider 
Government policies, global economic conditions and changing evidence) and does 
not have the financial resources available to put in place all of the necessary 
interventions and programmes to facilitate a more sustainable future.  However, 
within the limitations of Government requirements and legislation, Planning does 
provide an opportunity to shape the character of places and to help influence and 
coordinate investment decisions. 

4.5 In the UK local planning authorities have the responsibility for the preparation of the 
Local Plan (Development Plans with a 15 year time frame and the determination of 
planning applications via the Development Management process.  In Leeds the 
Local Plan is comprised of a series of documents including the Core Strategy 
(adopted 2014), the Natural Resources and Waste local plan (adopted 2013), the 
Aire Valley Leeds Area Action (adoption anticipated November 2017) and the Site 

Page 9



 

 

Allocations Plan (adoption anticipated 2018).  Once ‘made’, Neighbourhood Plans 
will also form part of the development plan. 

4.6 In providing a strategic planning framework for allocation Plans, the Leeds Core 
Strategy sets out a series of interrelated objectives, strategic and thematic policies, 
based around the principles of sustainable development.  It should be emphasised 
also that with the context of national planning guidance, the Core Strategy is a 
spatial plan, which is seeking to make provision for the overall scale and distribution 
of regeneration and growth across the District, whilst seeking to manage 
environmental resources and meet social objectives (such as aspects of public 
health and deprivation).  Key components of the Core Strategy include: 

• Supporting the provision of community infrastructure that is tailored to meet the 
needs of the community including high quality health, education and training, 
cultural and recreation, and community facilities and spaces. 

• The provision of new educational facilities to meet increased demand either 
through extensions to existing establishments or through the building of new 
schools in areas of housing growth or adjacent to them. 

• That new development should be located in accessible locations that are 
adequately served by existing or programmed highways, by public transport and 
with safe and secure access for pedestrians, cyclists and people with impaired 
mobility. 

 
4.7 The following information has been considered by the Scrutiny Board during 

previous inquiry sessions in July and September.  
 

• The origins and definition of the term, “Sustainable Development”. 
• The definition of “Sustainable Development”, as set out in the National 

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
• The Councils strategic planning framework  
• Housing numbers, the requirement to demonstrate a 5 Year Land Supply, the 

issue of viability, and local authority influence to compel developers to build 
out existing planning permissions, particularly on brownfield land. 

 
5. Main Issues 
 
5.1 Planning Obligations, also known as S106 agreements, are typically agreements 

negotiated between local authorities and developers in the context of granting 
planning consent in order to mitigate their impacts and make them acceptable in 
planning terms. Direct provision, through on-site benefits, and/or commuted 
financial contributions may relate to transport provision, affordable housing, green 
space, education or other community benefit.  The wording of each S106 
agreement will vary depending upon the benefit being sought. 

 
5.2 National planning policy, set out in Planning Practice Guidance ‘Planning 

Obligations’ March 2016 sets out the requirements for the use of s106 agreements. 
Further guidance is also set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended). National policy sets out statutory tests in relation 
to the scope of section 106 (s106) and its use. Planning obligations assist in 
mitigating the impact of unacceptable development to make it acceptable in 
planning terms. Planning obligations may only constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if they meet the tests that they are necessary to make the 

Page 10



 

 

development acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to the development, 
and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind. To help achieve this 
objective a number of limitations were introduced in the CIL regulations. In particular 
Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations requires planning obligations to be 
necessary, site specific and fair and reasonable. Local planning policies translate 
national policy and are also set out in local Supplementary planning documents as 
part of the LDF process. 

 
The difference between the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) & Section 106 
Agreements 

 
5.3 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allows local planning authorities to raise 

funds from developers who are creating new buildings in their area.  The funds 
raised will go towards infrastructure that is needed to support the growth of the 
city, such as schools and transport improvements.  The CIL is applied as a charge 
on each square metre of certain types of new buildings, with the funds generated 
to be used to deliver infrastructure projects and priorities identified on the 
Regulation 123 list (Appendix 1).  It replaces the method of seeking “pooled 
contributions” from developers via individual s106 planning obligations.  In Leeds, 
these pooled S106 contributions were previously collected for green space, public 
transport improvements, education, and public realm.  

 
5.4 Executive Board in February 2015 made key decisions around spending of the 

future CIL income, directing it into two main funding streams; a strategic fund, and 
a neighbourhood fund, plus up to 5% for administrative costs.  Executive Board 
agreed that the strategic CIL fund will be 70-80% of the total CIL received, and 
that priorities for its spending will be decided on an annual basis as part of the 
Council’s budget setting process, in line with the Regulation 123 List, and taking 
into account the impact of specific and cumulative infrastructure needs arising 
from new development. 

 

5.5 Within this context, s106s are continue to be used for site specific (on-site) 
requirements such as green space within the site, or access or nearby junction 
improvements.  Following the introduction of CIL, the use of s106s for Affordable 
housing provision remains the same.  

 

Core Strategy Policy Framework 
 

5.6 In Leeds, the adopted Development Plan (including the Core Strategy) and 
Supplementary Planning Documents (which amplify requirements for particular 
policies in the Development Plan), provide a Policy basis for s106 Agreements.  
These include Policies for Affordable Housing, Green space, Public Transport 
contributions and Education provision. 
 

5.7 These Policies and supplementary documents provide information on the level of 
contribution, the method of payment and the monitoring of agreements.  The level of 
contribution may be, for example, the provision of land laid out as Green space (on 
the development site) or a commuted sum in lieu of this but which has to be spent 
on the provision or enhancement of Green space in the same community area.  The 

Page 11



 

 

Policy and implementation documents primarily ensure a District wide approach to 
securing contributions, however, where necessary additional area specific 
Supplementary Planning Guidance/Supplementary Planning Documents has been 
provided by a number of approved documents, including Eastgate & Holbeck Urban 
Village. 
 

5.8 Policies set out in the Development Plan have been devised via the preparation of a 
comprehensive evidence base, public consultation and tested via an independent 
Examination process.  Within this context, the Core Strategy, Aire Valley Leeds 
Area Action Plan and Site Allocation Plan are supported with comprehensive 
Infrastructure Development Plans (IDPs).  The IDPs have been prepared with a 
range of key stakeholders including Clinical Commissioning Groups and Childrens 
Services.  The purpose of the IDPs is to help provide an overall framework to 
identify infrastructure programmes and projects either in place or planned to support 
the Plans objectives and allocations.  These proposals to address both existing 
infrastructure shortfalls as well as planning for future growth.  In terms of site 
specific proposals for new development, the ‘policy compliance requirements’ are 
intended to deal with the infrastructure requirements etc. arising from these 
proposals, rather than remedying existing infrastructure shortfalls.  However, in 
some instances the provision of infrastructure to support new development 
proposals, will clearly be of benefit to local communities where shortfalls do exist.  
In terms of the cumulative impact of development proposals, CIL via the 123 List 
provides a strategic context wider infrastructure requirements.  However, the CIL 
Regulations set limits on spending, consequently income from only five or less s106 
obligations can be pooled towards a specific item or type of Infrastructure.  S106s 
are continued to be used to mitigate site-specific requirements to make an individual 
development acceptable. 
 

5.9 In terms of the City Council’s overall requirements, the starting point through the 
Development Management process is to secure schemes that are Policy compliant 
across the Development Plan.  These Policies have been tested through the plan-
making process and supported by evidence include viability testing of Policies within 
the Plan (see below). 
 

Principles governing the management of Planning Obligations 
 

Compliance with the terms of a S106 Agreement 
 
5.10 When s106 Legal Agreements are drafted, the structure for the payment of 

contributions usually follows a phased schedule, from commencement of 
development through to the full occupation of the development.  When s106 
contributions are deemed to be a necessary condition of the development, phasing 
these payments can ensure that the viability of the development is not 
compromised.  
 

5.11 The responsibility for the payment of contributions ultimately lies with the developer 
and any subsequent landowner and for this reason the s106 charges are registered 
as a local land charge which shows up on any land search carried out by potential 
purchasers, whether homeowners or other developers who may be looking to 
purchase the land with the planning permission. Any non-compliance would be 

Page 12



 

 

evident and communicated to the potential purchaser. Non-compliance with the 
terms of an s106 Agreement could hinder both the sale of individual units and the 
site as a whole.  
 

5.12 As the responsibility, for ensuring payments are made,  lays with the landowner the 
main incentive for developers to comply with the terms of their s106 Agreement, in a 
proactive and timely manner, is the fact that all contributions are index linked 
(according to the Building Cost Index). This means that indexation is calculated and 
applied to all contributions from the point of the planning permission being granted 
to the point of payment. Any delay in payment obviously results in increased 
indexation charges which can be considerable, particularly on the larger 
developments.  The prime reason for this is to ensure that financial contributions do 
not lose their value if they are not due to be paid until a later stage of the 
development. However, it has also had the additional effect of encouraging 
developers to pay early in some cases to avoid any indexation at all.  
 

5.13 The responsibility for monitoring s106 Agreements lies with the Chief Planning 
Officer although a number of different service areas are involved at several stages. 
The Planning Agreement Manager is responsible for co-ordinating the different 
stages of this process and manages a database detailing information on all planning 
obligations. This information includes; 
• monies received,  
• monies due,  
• monies spent,  
• monies available to spend,  
• restrictions on spend,  
• any onsite works due/carried out.  

 
5.14 The database is used to track and monitor developments.  This information is then 

available to Ward Members and Officers and is reported as required. The database 
is updated on a daily basis to enable accurate information to be continuously 
available to members, officers, developers and the public. 
 

5.15 When s106 Legal Agreements are signed all their details are entered onto the s106 
database so that a record is held of all sums pledged under s106.  However, even 
though the Agreements are signed and the contributions are recorded as being due 
for that development, there are variables which can affect the collection of these 
sums. None of these variables affect the enforceability of the terms of the 
Agreement though.  

 
• Some of the developments may never be implemented so these monies would 

then not be payable, however they need to be recorded and monitored until the 
planning permission lapses.  

• Some developments may commence and then stall onsite (this was more 
common several years ago due to the effects of the economic downturn). In 
such cases,  developers sometimes request extensions of time to their planning 
permissions and sometimes developers seeks to sell the land on but as 
commencement has occurred the permission is extant.  

• Some monies may only become due if onsite works are not carried out as 
agreed, particularly pertinent with Affordable Housing where we add a clause 

Page 13



 

 

citing that a fall back contribution must be provided if the units cannot be 
passed onto a Housing Association.  

• On more complex developments with several phases, contributions may be paid 
at different stages of each phase of the development and this phasing may 
affect the speed at which the Agreement is fully complied with.  For example, 
the planning permission may have been granted in 2012 and the Legal 
Agreement entered into at that point. Development on site, which is outside 
Leeds City Council control, may not have commenced until 2015 and the final 
contributions may not have been due to be paid to the Council until the final 
phase of the development is 75% occupied which may be 2017 or some other 
future date. Deeds of Variation are often entered into on more complex sites 
and this, also, can alter the speed at which payments are made.  

 
5.16 For the reasons above, it can be difficult to forecast when s106 contributions are 

going to be paid to LCC as it can depend on the specifics of the Agreement and the 
rate at which the development progresses amongst other external influences, such 
as the economic climate. 

 
5.17 Therefore, when total amounts of monies pledged to LCC under s106 can appear 

vast but need to be read in the context of the above variables. Although the 
responsibility for compliance ultimately lays with the developer, we carry out regular 
monitoring checks to ensure that triggers for payment are adhered to and any 
problems are identified at the earliest opportunity.  
 

Compliance with the financial obligations within a S106 Agreement 
 
5.18 When a financial contribution becomes payable, an invoice is raised to the 

developer and from that point forward Sundry Debtors follow their protocol for the 
collection of monies. Often a developer will raise a query about the calculation of 
indexation and this is dealt with by Planning or may request copies of the s106 
Agreement and any Deeds of Variation.  
 

5.19 Due to the value of s106 Agreements (and CIL invoices also) Sundry Debtors apply 
a manual monitoring system alongside their standard recovery procedures. This 
allows the ‘debt’ to be monitored more closely for payment or further recovery 
action. Also, alongside this, if a debt remained outstanding, an automatic recovery 
process on Civica (the invoicing system) would ensure that the invoice would also 
appear on a work queue for officers to action/chase up and therefore these invoices 
cannot be omitted from further recovery action.   
 

5.20 The standard procedure for issuing s106 invoices is as follows; 
• The invoice is raised and issued either by post and/or emailed if an email 
address is available. 
• The invoice is reviewed weekly and the ‘debtor’ contacted to confirm the 
expected payment date or to pick up, at an early stage, any reason for non-
payment, such as a dispute or query. 
• A Reminder is issued after 21 days if the debt remains outstanding. 
• The invoice continues to be reviewed on a weekly basis and the ‘debtor’ is 
contacted again to confirm the expected payment date. 

Page 14



 

 

• A letter and/or email is issued to the debtor regarding any non-payment and 
advises that legal proceedings will commence if the debt remains unpaid. 
• Contact is made with Planning Services to confirm if there are any reasons 
for non-payment.  
• If there are no acceptable reasons for delay then Sundry debtors request 
Planning Services to provide evidence in order to refer the case to legal services 
for court proceedings. 
• Planning Services provide the evidence and Legal Services issue a Letter 
before Action to the debtor.  
• The case is then subject to court proceedings, if the debt remains unpaid. 

 

5.21 If a ‘debtor’ wishes to put an official case forward for viability, then their case is 
submitted and assessed. If the ‘debtor’ claims to be experiencing financial hardship 
then they must submit details of bank accounts to Sundry Debtors and they will 
make an assessment of what is affordable on a monthly basis and an official 
instalment plan may be drafted, with the condition that if one default occurs then the 
debt becomes immediately payable in full. If a debtor only pays part of the debt, or 
does not allow for the indexation, then LCC pursue the outstanding amount 
following the process above.  

 
5.22 There is a constant flow of communication between Sundry Debtors, Planning & 

Legal Services to ensure that debts are monitored closely and issues are picked up 
on at the earliest opportunity. For example, Planning Services will advise Sundry 
Debtors if any issues/delays are anticipated so that the debt can be monitored more 
closely, or if the ‘debtor’ has a history of slow payments.  

 
5.23 In general the only time S106 obligations are not fulfilled is if the developer provides 

onsite or financial benefits in lieu of the obligation. There is often a clause written 
into the S106 Agreements allowing for a ‘fall back’ contribution if any onsite works 
become unviable. Also there may be instances where works are only required if 
issues are identified post completion, for example, parking problems or traffic 
congestion. This is particularly pertinent with Traffic Regulation Orders. Therefore 
clauses are written into Agreements stating that particular works will need to be 
carried out only if any specific issues are identified within 5 or 10 years of 
completion or occupation. 

 
5.24 Write off is not common and where a company goes into administration a debt will 

remain registered with the Administrators until resolved. An example of this is for an 
amount of £7,899.95 for a greenspace contribution for land at Westfield Mills 
Greenock Road.   

 
The Release & Allocation of S106 Contributions 

 
5.25 After s106 monies have been received, the Council’s aim is not to spend these 

monies at the earliest opportunity but to invest the sums available on viable and 
sustainable projects which meet local needs and priorities. This approach values 
consultation with ward members as a means to ensure that local communities are 
involved in these decisions. This process can take considerable time. Listed below 
are some of the key reasons why monies may remain unspent for a period of time. 

 

Page 15



 

 

• Monies have specific restrictions on where/how they must be spent. (Planning 
obligations should only be sought where they are: necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to the development; 
and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development – NPPF 
paras 203 to 205).  

• Payments are often pooled to fund priority schemes, or a more comprehensive 
project, from a number of different sources in the same locality.  This often 
means projects are delayed awaiting receipt of all the required financing. 

• Some monies are earmarked for specific schemes which are programmed but 
not yet carried out.  

• Some of these monies have only been received recently, even though the 
planning approval was some years ago. This is because payment of the sums is 
tied to 'trigger points' the development process, e.g.  Commencement of works, 
first occupation, 50% occupation, amount of floorspace constructed etc.  

• Commuted Sums are only identified as ‘committed’ once official approval has 
been achieved. The sums are then only identified as ‘spent’ when they are 
actually allocated, i.e. paid out. This is to ensure the transparency of the 
Council’s accounting procedures and meet the requirement of auditors. 
Consequently, many sums which are left ‘uncommitted’ are currently going 
through the approval for spend process or are at the early stages of consultation. 

 

5.26 The actual process for the allocation of monies varies and can depend on the type 
of benefit the commuted sum is in lieu of or in contribution to (e.g. Green space, 
Affordable Housing, Education, Community Benefits, Highways and Public 
Transport Infrastructure). ( See appendix 2 & 3) 

 
• Children’s Services are responsible for allocating s106 sums received for 

Education. In order to release sums, they present a request to their internal 
Good Learning Places Board, who decide whether they support and are 
prepared to authorise the allocation. 

 
• Monies received for Green space & Play Areas are restricted in some way by 

the wording in the various s106 Agreements, either to a specific project or to the 
community area in which the development is located. If the sums of money or 
on-site benefits were not restricted in this way then they would not be in 
accordance with national and local policy and guidance.  Thus, any attempt to 
utilise s106 funds in locations which are remote from the funding development 
or to pay for unrelated, non-green space projects, would be open to challenge 
from developers and the legality of such actions would also be questioned by 
the Auditors. 

 
5.27 The process for agreeing the implementation of the monies differs depending on 

what the money is to be spent on. The system for spending monies for Green space 
& Play Areas involves extensive consultation with the relevant Ward Members, 
communities and other Council Directorates/services). There is then a tender 
process to follow and a construction period which is often seasonable by its very 
nature. 

 
5.28 Ward Members, officers or the local community may first identify potential Green 

space projects.  A corporate officer working group, the Green space Implementation 

Page 16



 

 

Group (GIG), has been established to bring these schemes forward in accordance 
with agreed priorities and to ensure that there is Ward Member and community 
support for suggested schemes. Irrespective of where a particular scheme 
originates, consultation with Ward Members is a pre requisite. 

 
• Public Transport Infrastructure contributions are ring fenced for those 
scheme identified within Appendix 1 (November 2011 update) of the Public 
Transport SPD and other major infrastructure schemes. The contributions must be 
used in compliance with the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) regulations and 
therefore be related to the development from which it was secured.  If no 
appropriate major / strategic infrastructure scheme as listed in Appendix A can be 
identified then other local schemes in the vicinity of the development will be 
considered. 

 
• The majority of off-site Highways works are delivered via S278 agreements 
and outside the scope of this S106 pot. Financial contributions received under S106 
Agreements tend to relate to specific schemes or provision of facilities in the vicinity 
of the development. 

 
• Where sums are secured for Affordable Housing, they are in effect, ‘banked’ 
until sufficient funds are in place to implement schemes. However, the key aim of 
the policy to secure affordable housing is to ensure that provision is made on the 
application site.   

Page 17



 

 

Ongoing use of S106 Agreements  
 
5.29 For clarity, the list below provides an outline of the matters which will continue to be 

addressed through S106 or S278 Agreements.  
 

- Affordable housing  
- Employment and skills agreements e.g. local employment or apprentice contracts  
- Site specific matters needed to make the development acceptable in planning 

terms, including:  
  

o New bus connections or services and cycle/pedestrian routes and 
connections if directly required by the development  
o Local junction / highways improvements and access into the site  
o Metrocards, travel plans and monitoring fee / co-ordinator posts  
o Primary schools/extensions as a direct result of large sites or groups of up to 
five sites identified in the Site Allocations Plan  
o On-site greenspace as required by Core Strategy Policies G4 and G5 (which 
include requirements for a financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision in 
certain circumstances1).  
o Public realm improvements on-site, and off-site where this is required as a 
direct result of an adjacent development.2  
o On-site drainage and flooding solutions  
o On site sustainable energy requirements  

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 
5.30 The Community Infrastructure Levy allows the Council to raise funds from the 

creation of new buildings in the District.  The funds raised are intended towards 
infrastructure that is needed to support the growth of the city, such as schools and 
transport improvements. 

 
5.31 The CIL is applied as a charge on each square metre of certain types of new 

buildings. It replaces the previous method of seeking pooled s106 contributions for 
green space, public transport improvements, education, and public realm in the 
Holbeck Urban Village.  It is primarily linked to the granting of planning permission. 

 
5.32 Legal guidance on the CIL is set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy 

Regulations 2010 (as amended), and some guidance is also given in National 
Planning Practice Guidance ‘Community Infrastructure Levy’.  A range of guidance 
is also on the Council’s website. 

 
5.33 The Leeds CIL Charging Schedule was adopted by the Council on 12th November 

2014, and charging was implemented on 6th April 2015.  It has applied to all relevant 
development permitted after this date. 

 
Principles governing the management and collection of the CIL 

 
5.34 Anyone involved in a development may take on the liability to pay, but in most 

cases it will be the developer who has applied for planning permission, or the 

                                            
1 Clarification added April 2015 
2 Clarification added April 2015 

Page 18



 

 

landowner. If by the time development commences no one has assumed liability to 
pay the levy, the liability defaults to the landowner(s).  The CIL is registered as a 
local land charge which shows up on any land search carried out by potential 
purchasers.  Any outstanding payments would therefore be clear and the potential 
purchaser would be aware. 

 
5.35 The developer/landowner has to inform the Council of the intended date of 

commencement of their development, after which a Demand Notice and a separate 
invoice is sent.  There are strict payment responsibilities, and the CIL payment is 
mandatory and non-negotiable.  Late payments or non-payments or non-
compliance with the various stages of providing the Council with requested 
information are subject to surcharges.  There are also strong enforcement powers 
and penalties for failure to pay, such as interest added, a Stop Notice, or court 
proceedings. 

 
5.36 The CIL rates are index linked each year to the date of the planning permission and 

so far have increased by 8.88%.  
 
5.37 The responsibility for the CIL process lies with the Chief Planning Officer although a 

number of different service areas are involved at several stages. The CIL officer and 
other colleagues in Development Management deal with queries, measurements, 
and generating planning Notices.  Finance (Sundry Debtors) send out invoices and 
track payments and Legal follow through any further enforcement action necessary 
alongside Development Management Compliance team. 

 
5.38 The standard procedure for issuing CIL invoices is as follows; 

• When Commencement of Development has occurred a CIL Demand Notice is 
sent to the Developer, which reaffirms the total CIL amount due and the 
instalment policy.  

• If surcharges are to be applied, an email is also sent detailing the reason for the 
surcharges and the CIL Regulations these relate to.  

• An Invoice is then raised and issued with details of the CIL instalment policy. 
• A Weekly review is carried out and the debtor is contacted if instalments are not 

made as demanded.  
• Civica (the invoicing system) also monitors for payment and would issue a 

Broken Arrangement Letter if the instalment payment was in default. 
• Planning Services are contacted if the CIL debt remains unpaid with a view to 

adding surcharges and late payment interest to the invoiced debt as required. 
• Failure to pay the invoice can result in a Stop Notice being served by Planning 

Services Compliance team. 
• If the debt remains unpaid evidence is passed by Planning Services, to Legal 

Services, for the issue of court proceedings in the Magistrates courts following a 
Letter Before Action. 

 
CIL Audit 

 
5.39 It should be noted that in Summer 2017 the CIL process within Development 

Management was subject to internal independent audit, with a report published 
highlighting findings and actions for improvement.  These actions are currently 
underway, including for example recruitment of a full-time CIL officer.  This provided 

Page 19



 

 

an in-depth scrutiny of the CIL process and collection process and overall the 
findings were positive. 

 
The Allocation and Spending of the CIL 

 
5.40 Executive Board in July 2017 received a report summarising the processes 

undertaken so far which have allocated the CIL funding streams, and which 
recommended the spending of all CIL income received so far in the Strategic Fund 
to be spent on education.  This report is attached as Appendix 4 

 
Community Committees and Parish Councils have responsibility for spending of the 
Neighbourhood Fund, and a protocol has been drawn up by all interested parties. 

 
Amount of CIL Income 

  
5.41 The current amount of CIL invoiced and received will be provided to the Scrutiny 

Board in advance of the meeting as late supplementary information.  
 

Application of Sustainability principles through the Development Management 
process 

 
Overview 

 
5.42 Following the adoption of the Development Plan, the consideration of planning 

applications via the Development Management process is an important means of 
delivering the principles of sustainable development through day to day decision 
making.  Planning applications need to be considered within the context of Policies 
in the Development Plan, together with other material considerations including 
national planning guidance. 

 
5.43 As emphasised in previous presentations to the previous two Scrutiny Boards into 

this matter, current national planning guidance is set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF, 2012).  As noted previously, this guidance adopts a 
particular interpretation of sustainable development, with emphasis upon 
‘development, means growth’.  Within this context, the City Council’s experience 
post 2012 has been that issues of development viability and the need for local 
authorities to demonstrate a five year supply (5YS) of housing land especially 
significant. 

 
Viability 

 
5.44 In recent years and within the context of the economic downturn (2008 – 2012) and 

the NPPF, the viability of development proposals (especially for housing 
development on brownfield land within urban areas) and compliance with Policy 
requirements, has become a highly contested area.  At the outset, through pre-
application discussions and early engagement work, Development Management 
case officers make an assessment of policy requirements (and the Council’s 
expectations are in terms of contributions), the applicant will then make the case 
whether they can or cannot achieve the Council’s expectations.  If the applicant is 
unable to comply with the Council’s Policy requirements, they are asked to submit a 
viability statement to prove their assertions.  This is sent on usually to the District 

Page 20



 

 

Valuer (DV) who advises the Council as to whether the assumptions made by the 
developer and conclusion is reasonable taking account of the DV’s extensive 
knowledge of similar comparable developments throughout the country.  

 
Five Year Housing Land Supply Issues 

 
5.45 The presence of a 5YS is necessary to maintain control over local policies for 

housing land release.  The Council, like many other local planning authorities, has 
fought many planning appeals on this issue.  In 2011 UDP Phase 3 sites were 
released to bolster the supply of land for housing.  Similarly in March 2013 the 
Council introduced a pragmatic interim-PAS release policy which further bolstered 
supply.  

 
5.46 However, since this time the Council has contested (and lost) a series of planning 

appeals over successive years and has been found not to have a 5YS and is a 20% 
authority.  At the centre of this debate has been the identification of suitable sites for 
development and the preparation of a Strategic Housing Land Availability 
Assessment (SHLAA).  Prepared within the context of the NPPF, the purpose of the 
SHLAA is to monitor whether there is an adequate supply of housing land at any 
point in time. 

 
5.47 Whilst it is a fundamental role of the planning system to bring forward a supply of 

land for housing development, the current emphasis upon the 5YS issue has 
become a dominant feature of planning.  As a result, the more holistic 
interpretations of sustainable development and the broad range of policy 
commitments set out in the NPPF, given less emphasis.  That is not to say 
however, the provision of housing land does not have concurrent economic, social 
and environmental benefits. 

 
Case Study 

 
5.48 Within the context of the NPPF and City Council planning policies, the principles of 

sustainable development have been ‘mainstreamed’ as part of day to day working 
and decision making.  As noted above there are particular issues relating to the 
level of emphasis given to particular policy areas and requirements.  
Notwithstanding this, through the Development Management process the City 
Council continues to seek to reflect the principles of sustainable development in 
relation to individual applications and proposals.  The following case study gives an 
example as to how these matters have been considered. 

 
Application 10/04068/OT, Former Clariant Works, Calverley Lane, Horsforth – 
up to 400 dwellings. 
 
This included the first refusal reason as: 
The site lies outside the main urban area, in a location which is remote from 
local services.  As such, the site is not in a demonstrably sustainable location 
for residential development and the sustainability measures promoted are 
considered insufficient to outweigh this locational disadvantage.  The 
proposal is therefore detrimental to the aims and objectives of sustainability 
policy, contrary to adopted Leeds UDP Review (2006) strategic goal SG4, 
strategic aim SA2, policies H4, T2, T9; RSS (2008) policies YH7, LCR1, T1 and 
government guidance in PPS1, PPS3 and PPG13. 

Page 21



 

 

 
And the second refusal reason as: 
The site is poorly served by non car modes of transport. The proposed bus 
service is insufficient to meet the minimum standards suggested by the SPD 
Public Transport Contributions and proposals for Calverley Lane North result 
in disbenefits for cyclists. Consequently residents would be primarily 
dependent upon use of the private car. The proposal is therefore detrimental 
to the aims and objectives of sustainability policy, contrary to adopted Leeds 
UDP Review (2006) strategic goal SG4, strategic aim SA2, policies GP5, H4, 
T2, T2D, T5, T9;  RSS (2008) policies YH7, T1, T3; SPD Public Transport 
Improvements and Developer Contributions (August 2008) and government 
guidance in PPS1, PPS3 and PPG13. 
 
The Appeal was called in and allowed.  On sustainability the Planning 
Inspectors/Secretary of State agreed with the appeal Inspector and said that both 
proposals, ‘had potential to generate a material increase in traffic movement and 
that the sites were in a location with no existing public transport service and 
accessibility standards for travel on foot were not met.  A package of measures was 
proposed to improve transport and that such improvements would be helpful’.  On 
this basis, the accessibility of the site by public transport was considered to be 
adequate and that with improvements cycling was also a sustainable option.  
Therefore in these terms the proposal complied with UDP Policies (T2, T2D, T5, T9) 
and PPG13. 

 
Walking was not considered an attractive option and the proposals did not perform 
satisfactorily against Policies T2, T5, YH7 and PPG13 in walking terms.  However 
the proposal brought about ‘benefits to existing uses, and there was the ability of 
the sites to be re-developed for industrial purposes without any such measures, the 
redevelopment of the sites would not be inappropriate having regard to policies 
which promote sustainable patterns of development’.  In other words, the proposal 
complied with enough of the policies on accessibility to make it acceptable, 
especially in light of the package of benefits that would accrue and which would 
have wider benefit than just the site (e.g. public transport improvements).  It was 
further recognised that as a brownfield site the re-use of the land enhanced the 
sustainability credentials of the appeal proposals. 

 

6 Corporate Considerations 

6.1 Consultation and Engagement  

The board may undertake consultation should it be deemed appropriate in order to 
conduct the inquiry or gather necessary evidence.   

6.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration. 

6.2.1 Equality Improvement Priorities have been developed to ensure our legal duties are 
met under the Equality Act. The priorities will help the council to achieve its ambition 
to be the best City in the UK and ensure that as a city work takes place to reduce 
disadvantage, discrimination and inequalities of opportunity. 

Page 22



 

 

6.2.2 Equality and diversity will be a consideration throughout the Scrutiny Inquiry and 
due regard will be given to equality through the use of evidence, written and verbal, 
outcomes from consultation and engagement activities.  

6.2.3  The Scrutiny Board may engage and involve interested groups and individuals (both 
internal and external to the council) to inform recommendations. 

6.2.4 Where an impact has been identified this will be reflected in the final inquiry report, 
post inquiry. Where a Scrutiny Board recommendation is agreed the individual, 
organisation or group responsible for implementation or delivery should give due 
regard to equality and diversity, conducting impact assessments where it is deemed 
appropriate. 

6.3   Council Policies and City Priorities 

This inquiry will support objectives as defined in The Vision for Leeds 2011 – 2030 
and the Best Council Plan 2015-20  

6.4      Resources and Value for Money 

There is no resource or value for money implications relating to this report. At the 
conclusion of the inquiry any identified impact will be reported in the final inquiry 
report.  

6.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

None 

6.6 Risk Management 

There are no risk implications relating to this report. At the conclusion of the inquiry 
any identified risk will be reported in the final inquiry report.  

7 Recommendations 

The Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) is recommended to:  
 
a) note the information contained within this report and make recommendations as 

deemed appropriate.  
 

8         Background documents3  

None 

                                            
3 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 
 

Page 23



CIL Regulation123 List. 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY REGULATION 123 LIST 

September 2014 
Regulation 123 provides for the Council to set out a list of those projects or types of 
infrastructure that it intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded through the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). In order to ensure that individual developments are not charged for 
the same infrastructure items through both Section 106 Agreements and the CIL, a S106 
contribution or a S278 agreement cannot then be made towards an infrastructure item already 
on the List. Sustainable transport schemes:  
- New Generation Transport (NGT)
- Leeds Core Cycle Network
- The Public Right of Way network

Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS)  
Secondary education  
Primary education, except for large scale residential development identified in the Site 
Allocations Plan, which will be expected to provide primary schools either as an integral part of 
the development or as the result of no more than 5 separate planning obligations  
Green infrastructure and public greenspace, except for on-site provision required by Core 
Strategy policies  
Community sports facilities  
Cemeteries  
Public realm improvements, except for on-site provision or where this is required as a direct 
result of an adjacent development  
District heating networks  
Public health facilities  

The Council will review this list at least once a year, as part of monitoring of CIL 
collection and spend, and any changes will be justified and subject to appropriate local 
consultation.  

The R123 List does not identify priorities for spending within it, or any apportionment of 
the CIL funds across the District, and does not signify a commitment from the Council to 
fund the projects listed through the CIL.  

The Council will work with local communities and parish/town councils to agree local 
priorities for spend. The ‘meaningful proportion’ held by local communities can be spent 
on the Regulation 123 List, but it does not have to be. 

The Council proposed minor changes to the Regulation 123 list in accordance with 
the CIL Regulations at its Executive Board on 21st October 2015. These were minor 
changes and are proposed in order to increase clarity only.  The amendments are 
attached as below for information.  The amendments to the Regulation 
123 were subject to public consultation from 13th November until 7th December 
2015. 

Appendix 1 

Page 24

http://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s137748/CIL%20Cover%20Report%20091015.pdf


Regulation 123 list Amendments 
 
Current Reg123 List Proposed change Explanation 

Leeds Core Cycle 
Network 
 

Leeds Core Cycle 
Network, except for 
where improvements 
or additions are 
necessary as a result 
of a specific 
development. 

Where appropriate for the site, a development may 
be expected to provide a new cycle link or upgrade 
an adjacent existing route, via a S106.  However, 
where that link or route happens to be part of the 
Leeds Core Cycle Network, this is not possible due to 
the generic category on the R123 List. Therefore by 
inserting the exclusion on the List, it will allow the 
CIL to be the main contributor (alongside other 
funding sources), yet not preclude S106 
contributions from individual developments.   

The Public Right of 
Way network 

The Public Right of 
Way network, except 
for where 
improvements or 
additions are 
necessary as a result 
of a specific 
development. 

Almost all development sites are expected to 
provide new pedestrian links or upgrade an adjacent 
existing route, and sometimes this is best sought 
through a S106.  However, there have been 
instances where applicants have argued that 
because all walking routes are part of the public 
right of way network, then no S106 contribution 
should be made.  It was never the intention that the 
CIL should supersede the proper planning of new 
development sites, therefore providing further 
clarity on this wording is considered appropriate.    

Primary education, 
except for large scale 
residential 
development 
identified in the Site 
Allocations Plan, 
which will be 
expected to provide 
primary schools 
either as an integral 
part of the 
development or as 
the result of no more 
than 5 separate 
planning obligations 

Primary education, 
except for large scale 
residential 
development, which 
will be expected to 
provide primary 
schools as an integral 
part of the 
development. 

It is very difficult to identify in advance which should 
be the specific sites to contribute towards off-site 
school need in each area.  This is because it does not 
work out evenly basing this on size or location or 
phasing, because the need for the school and the 
timing of it will alter in each case depending on 
which sites come forwards at which points, and 
because there are inevitably more than 5 sites in 
most instances that will generate a cumulative 
demand for places. It also cannot be guaranteed 
which sites would come forwards first. 
 
In addition, the CIL Regulations refer to pooling of 5 
S106 ‘obligations’, which means that the tally 
includes where schemes may change and 
new/revised applications/S106s are required, and 
where reserved matters applications come forwards 
in phases spread across one sight which would each 
then require a S106.    
 

 
  

Page 25



Current Reg123 List Proposed change Explanation 
Therefore even a single site could on its own 
generate 5 obligations, after which no more could 
be taken into account either from that site or from 
any other site, no matter what was set out in the 
SAP and no matter whether the contributions 
would ever actually be received (i.e. if superseded 
by another application).   

The statutory consultation procedures relating to 
school expansions also means that even if a specific 
school were cited for expansion in the SAP or a 
S106 agreement, there is no guarantee that the 
outcome of the consultation would agree the 
expansion of that school. 

It is therefore more appropriate to remove the 
reference to identification of sites in the SAP to 
pool together up to 5 obligations. 

Secondary education Secondary education, 
except for large scale 
residential 
development which 
will be expected to 
provide secondary 
schools as an integral 
part of the 
development 

To provide consistency with the position for primary 
schools, and to support the few sites in the Site 
Allocations Plan where on-site secondary provision 
will be a requirement. 

Green infrastructure 
and public 
greenspace, except 
for on-site provision 
required by 
Core Strategy policies 

Green infrastructure 
and public 
greenspace, except 
for site specific 
provision required by 
Core Strategy policies 

To provide better clarity about the scope of Core 
Strategy Policies G4 and G5, and the potential for 
site-specific provision to be provided by an ‘on-site 
contribution in lieu’ and not just physically on-site 
provision. 

Public realm 
improvements, 
except for on-site 
provision or where 
this is required as a 
direct result of an 
adjacent 
development 

Public realm 
improvements on-
site, and off-site 
where this is required 
as a 
direct result of an 
adjacent 
development 

To provide better clarity. 

16th November 2015 

Page 26



Appendix 2 - S106 Table of Current Position October 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Invoice raised 
not yet paid 

Amount Paid 
(in 2017/18) 

Amount 
Spent (in 
2017/18) 

Total Amount 
Committed 
not spent 

Total 
uncommitted 

balance 
COMMUNITY BENEFITS  0 0 0 0 0 
GREENSPACE  1,151,293.50 577,104 0 1,474,103 5,895,107 
AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING  

81,830.26 0 0 246,530 2,997,319 

OTHER  179,027.97 1,075,878 354,828 987,095 6,090,607 
PUBLIC REALM FUND  0 0 0 689,755.57 222,955 
PLAY AREA  0 0 0 0 138,096 
EDUCATION  156,219.26 1,467,649 0 0 9,488,024 
TRANSPORT 
STRATEGY  

197,124.99 309,968 0 93,000 6,203,236 

TRAVELWISE  11,152.89 27,987 0 0 637,988 
TOTAL 1,776,648.87 3,458,586 354,828 3,490,484 31,673,332 

Page 27



Appendix 3 - S106 Monies Received and Spent Trends by Year  

S106 Monies 
Received            

    

  2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08  2008/09     2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18                  
Community 
Benefits  241,000 89,355 92,424 13 0 2,500 0 13,136 29,729 0 0 

 
0 

 
0 

 
0 

0 

Greenspace  1,383,534 1,169,236 975,260 1,910,641 1,448,061 512,801 1,324,776 1,194,263 395,408 804,873 1,530,417 1,103,334 2,009,517 1,702,649 577,104 
Affordable 
Housing 1,584,231 299,067 779,000 40,000 288,603 0 0 461,334 386,485 1,310,556 427,419 

 
0 

 
509,609 

 
983,948 

0 

Other 725,000 351,833 165,000 4,496,771 2,729,445 255,236 1,464,917 957,826 535,325 625,441 3,013225 2,674,553 1,703,924 3,714,840 1,075,878 

Public Realm  0 0 0 0 500,921 0 100,000 185,000 230,934 31,166 548,752 
 

246,477 
 

40,000 
236,839 0 

Play Areas  0 0 0 65,000 75,000 0 15,000 0 0 43,792 112,269 16,579 0 26,790 0 
Education  0 0 0 60,000 0 121,712 0 0 54,500 1,242,801 1,731,898 2,803,337 2,310,469 2,977,220 1,467,649 

Public Transport  218,500 482,750 638,905 298,750 513,000 270,588 348,817 1,346,999 618,800 479,738 1,816,546 
 

1,765,080 
 

903,314 
 

1,192,892 
309,968 

Travelwise  0 0 0 0 0 14,340 38,629 71,558 75,315 47,136 99,317 142,559 79,785 173,871 27,987 
TOTAL 4,152,266 2,392,241 2,650,589 6,871,175 5,555,030 1,177,177 3,292,139 4,230,116 2,326,496 4,585,503 9,279,843 8,751,919 £7,556,619 11,009,050 3,458,586 
 
 
S106 Monies 
Spent            

    

  2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08  2008/09     2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18                  
COMMUNITY 
BENEFITS  78,572 70,682 94,753 154,274 81,036 169,314 76,652 16,403 22,598 18,920 2,660 

 
0 

 
0 

 
32,434 

0 

GREENSPACE  987,569 512,133 925,952 759,005 810,554 1,309,520 979,600 1,142,285 1,106,206 991,087 336,972 1,259,367 1,241,825 1,171,134 0 
AFFORDABLE 
HOUSING  0 0 141,250 1,127,253 3,853 876,987 1,679,907 1,036 0 0 184,483 

 
0 

 
202,905 

 
100,000 

0 

OTHER  312,908 426,308 258,087 337,776 434,462 2,818,228 247,121 5,196,146 408,092 791,183 2,771,309 1,729,704 1,619,793 1,002,848 354,828 
PUBLIC REALM 
FUND  0 0 0 0 0 4,950 100,000 141,885 77,226 48,606 257,822 

 
128,891 

 
119,760 

 
139,204 

0 

PLAY AREA  0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 36,729 18,865 0 50,000 0 30,740 0 0 
EDUCATION  0 0 0 0 30,000 0 0 60,000 0 54,500 50,000 100,560 3,473,827 0 0 
TRANSPORT 
STRATEGY  0 0 0 0 31,250 1,360,000 1,134,000 0 249,658 10,000 637,266 

 
2,216,873 

 
236,050 

 
1,132,511 

0 

TRAVELWISE  0 0 0 0 0 0 12,578 8,140 14,131 33,962 42,720 27,887 33,496 0 0 
TOTAL 1,379,049 1,009,123 1,420,042 2,378,308 1,391,155 6,588,999 4,229,858 6,602,625 1,896,776 1,948,258 4,333,232 5,463,282 6,958,396 3,578,130 354,828 

P
age 28



Report of Director of Resources and Housing            Appendix 4

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 17th July 2017 

Subject: The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy – Investment of the Strategic 
Fund 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): All

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. In meeting the many challenges associated with the ambition to be the best city in the
UK, central to the Best Council Plan is the desire to ensure that the need for growth
and resilient communities is accommodated. The Council has progressed and adopted
‘The Leeds Community Infrastructure Levy’ (CIL), which has now been in place and
applies to new development since April 2015 when it was adopted. This report relates
to the investment of the strategic fund only. The CIL monies, held in the CIL strategic
fund, will help to meet Leeds’ priorities by using fund generated by CIL to provide
infrastructure while being at appropriate rates which will continue to create growth,
investment, create jobs, and deliver new housing.

2. Executive Board in February 2015 agreed that investment of the strategic fund will be
determined by Executive Board as part of the Council’s overall budget setting process,
in line with the Councils Regulation 123 list and taking into account the impact of
specific and cumulative infrastructure needs arising from new development.

3. The Regulation 123 list set out how CIL monies can be invested as attached in
Appendix 1.  This is the infrastructure list the Council approved on the adoption of the
CIL. This specifies those infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure that the
Council intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded through the CIL. There are
restrictions set out in the CIL Regulations as to how the strategic fund can be invested.

 Report author:  Nasreen Yunis 
Tel:  0113 3787640 

Page 29



 

 

4.  The Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule was implemented on the 6th 
April 2015 and applies to all relevant developments granted permission since then. CIL 
liability is payable on commencement of development rather than the granting of 
planning consent and this often has a long lead in period/ time lag before the Council 
receives any meaningful CIL receipts as a result.  It has now been just over 2 years 
since development in Leeds has been liable to pay CIL. Consideration has been given 
to the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) and major planning application activity. Within 
this context the Strategic Investment Board recommends that sums accumulated up to 
November 2016, be in its entirety, used as a contribution to learning places deficit for 
schools and that this be approved by Executive Board. 

Recommendations 

5.  Executive Board is requested to: 
 

     i) Agree the investment of CIL strategic fund as set out in table 1 (up to November 
2016) be used to contribute to learning places deficit for schools; 
 

 ii) Note that the responsible officer for implementing the recommendation is the Chief 
Officer (Financial Services). 

Page 30



 

 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Executive Board approval to investment of the 
CIL strategic fund for monies accumulated up until November 2016, as set out in 
Table 1. 

2 Background information 

2.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was adopted in April 2015, since its 
adoption the CIL strategic fund has gradually been accumulating (as set out in table 
1). The liability of CIL is triggered on commencement of development which can often 
be up to a couple of years after the grant of a planning permission. It is only now that 
significant and meaningful sums of monies have been accumulated. Whilst Section 
106 funds are closely associated with a specific development and are often directed 
towards specific types of infrastructure, CIL strategic funds are directed towards more 
strategic infrastructure priorities. 

3. Main issues 

3.1 Executive Board (February 2015), made key decisions around spending of the future 
CIL income, directing it into two main funding streams, a strategic fund, and a 
neighbourhood fund, plus up to 5% for administrative costs. The neighbourhood fund 
is 15% in an area without an adopted Neighbourhood Plan, and 25% in an area with 
an adopted Neighbourhood Plan to include Parish Councils. In town and parish 
council areas it is to be passed directly to those local councils, as required by 
national CIL regulations. In non-parished areas the decisions about spending are 
delegated to the relevant Leeds City Council Community Committee, and the CIL 
neighbourhood fund ring fenced by the City Council for that purpose.  

3.2 In relation to the strategic fund Executive Board (Feb 2015) set out that priorities for 
its investment will be decided on an annual basis as part of the Council’s budget 
setting process, in line with the Regulation 123 List, taking into account the impact of 
specific and cumulative infrastructure needs arising from new development. The 
investment of the CIL strategic fund is a Resources & Strategy led issue. Table 1 
summarises the total strategic fund which has been collected since CIL was adopted 
up to November 2016. In total £685,434.61 has been received. This has been 
generated by the commencement of developments throughout Leeds which were 
granted permission following the adoption of CIL which were granted permission 
following the adoption of CIL and largely consists of some larger developments which 
have generated larger sums. The amount of CIL payable depends upon the size, 
type and location of developments.  

  

TOTAL 
STRATEGIC 
FUND PAID 
TO DATE 

2015/2016  £101,502.58 

2016/2017  £583,932.03 

TOTAL  £685,434.61 

Table 1 

Page 31



 

 

3.3 The purpose of the CIL strategic fund is to contribute to the costs of hosting 
development, not for the money to be substituted for general spending, for which 
funding streams should continue as at present.  The levy has to focus on the 
provision and maintenance of infrastructure and should not be used to remedy pre-
existing deficiencies unless those deficiencies will be made more severe by new 
development.  Funds can be accrued to fund key items which are listed on the 
Regulation 123 list or passed onto any other body e.g. the Highways Authority. 
Investment of the strategic fund as such needs to take into consideration the 
restrictions set out in the Regulation 123 list. The Councils Regulation 123 list 
identifies both secondary and primary as an infrastructure type however, primary 
provision does not extend to that triggered by large scale residential development 
identified in the Site Allocations Plan, as that is expected to provide primary schools 
either as an integral part of the development or as the result of no more than 5 
separate planning obligations. 

3.4  Appendix 1 of this report sets out the current Regulation 123 list, which is the 
Infrastructure list the Council approved on the adoption of the CIL. This specifies 
those infrastructure projects or types of infrastructure that the Council intends will 
be, or may be, wholly or partly funded through the CIL. In order to ensure that 
individual developments are not charged twice for the same infrastructure items, the 
CIL Regulations restrict section106 planning obligations in respect of infrastructure 
listed on the Regulation 123 list. Where the regulation 123 list includes a generic 
type of infrastructure (such as ‘education’ or ‘transport’), section 106 contributions 
should not be sought on any specific projects in that category.  

3.5 There are various options and pressures in relation to the investment of the 
strategic fund, such as competing demands for the monies from varying different 
types of infrastructure to include schools, public transport and flood alleviation. 
There are also pressures in terms of where the monies are spent geographically. 
The strategic fund can be invested on strategic infrastructure throughout Leeds and 
is not restricted geographically, however this can also mean that there is not 
necessarily a connection between development activity and where the strategic 
fund is spent. Whilst section 106 funds are closely tied to the local area around the 
relevant development and are often directed towards specific types of infrastructure, 
there is the potential to direct CIL funds towards more strategic infrastructure 
priorities. 

 3.6 Consideration has been given to major development. Some of this development 
activity will generate a need for education infrastructure. However smaller 
developments can also trigger smaller sums which can also accumulate CIL and 
pressure for infrastructure provision. CIL will not meet the total infrastructure needs 
as identified as identified by the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). However CIL can 
along with other funding sources make a contribution to the delivery of 
infrastructure. The IDP identifies as far as possible currently planned infrastructure 
provision in the Leeds District, including the critical infrastructure necessary for the 
delivery of the Site Allocations Plan (SAP) and Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
(AVLAAP) within the context of the Core Strategy up until 2028. The IDP provides 
an overarching framework for other service providers’ plans and programmes, to 
bring them into one place and to ensure that all providers are planning for the 
predicted locations of future growth as set out in the SAP and AVLAAP whilst also 

Page 32



 

 

reflecting current infrastructure needs. Any future investment of the strategic fund 
will also need to reflect the continuing connection between the demands that 
development generates and investment of the monies. In addition future investment 
will need to take into account the impact of specific and cumulative infrastructure 
needs arising from new developments. 

3.7 In terms of the Site Allocations Plan which has now been submitted to the Secretary 
of State for Examination, the Council received 67958 representations, 9892 of these 
have been identified as mentioning school issues, including the link between new 
homes and increased pressure on existing school places. The Council also 
continues to monitor the overall deficit in funding which will arise from the need for 
new school places. This takes into account the latest demographic projections for 
primary and secondary places, the existing capacity in schools and projected 
funding assumptions up to 2019-20. The current Council estimate of the funding 
gap is £71.2m; however, this calculation is primarily based on EFA funding rates, 
which is known to be insufficient to meet current scheme cost estimates. This does 
not include the cost for additional nursery and sixth form places where required. 
The need for additional places in these areas is likely to increase this funding gap. 
Investment of the strategic fund for learning places for deficit for schools should 
relate to the demands placed by new development. It is recommended that 
investment of the strategic fund for learning places for deficit for schools is 
appropriate within the context outlined above.   

 

4. Corporate Considerations 

4.1    Consultation and Engagement  

4.1.1 At previous stages of CIL the adoption of CIL has required consultation at key 
stages of the process. The charging schedule has also been the subject of public 
examination by an inspector.  

4.1.2 SIB have considered the option for investing the CIL, in light of the CIL and other 
demands and made recommendation in relation to the investment of the strategic 
fund. SIB can approve governance and progress monitoring arrangements for 
programmes and projects with significant capital investment to ensure such risks 
are mitigated and managed. 

4.2   Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration screening has been undertaken in 
considering the equality impact considerations of this report. An EIA screening has 
been undertaken and due regard has been given. The recommendation proposes  
investment of the strategic fund (until November 2016) to contribute to learning 
places deficit for schools. This assists with the provision of vital infrastructure. In 
particular the key groups to benefit from this are young children who will directly 
benefit from the provision of schools. 

 

Page 33



 

 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 The investment of the strategic fund for learning places deficit for schools 
addresses the Councils policies, and in particular the Best Council plan aims of 
growth and creating resilient communities. 

4.4   Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The investment of the strategic fund (until November 2016) to contribute to 
learning places deficit for schools provides value for money as it assists with the 
provision of vital infrastructure. The CIL Regulations state that the Council “must 
apply CIL to funding the provision, improvement, replacement, operation or 
maintenance of infrastructure to support the development of its area.”   

4.4.2 The demand for infrastructure across Leeds is inevitably wide ranging and 
challenging, however CIL is only one component of the delivery of infrastructure 
within Leeds.  The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) (Feb 2017) identifies other 
funding sources which can be used to deliver infrastructure. 

4.5   Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) set out that 
CIL monies collected can only be used to fund (or part fund) infrastructure 
projects or infrastructure types specified in the Council’s Regulation 123 List.  

 
4.5.2    The recommendations in this report are a key decision and are subject to call-in. 

4.6    Risk Management. 

4.6.1 In order to ensure that individual developments are not charged twice for the 
provision of the same infrastructure, the CIL Regulations restrict section 106 
planning obligations in respect of infrastructure listed on the Regulation 123 list. 

5   Conclusions 

5.1 The CIL is a key part of the delivery of the Best Council Plan objectives of creating 
growth and resilient communities. This report recommends the investment of the 
strategic fund for learning places for deficit for schools, this also provides linkages 
with the Capital Programme. Consideration has been given to the ‘Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan’ (IDP) (February 2017), and to the major developments since April 
2015.  Spend of the strategic fund for learning places for deficit for schools is 
recommended as the most appropriate investment of the strategic fund 
accumulated up to November 2015. 

6.    Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to: 

i)  Agree the investment of  the CIL strategic fund as set out in Table 1 (up to 
November 2016) be used to contribute to learning places deficit for schools; 

Page 34



 

 

ii)  Note that the responsible officer for implementing the recommendation is the 
Chief Officer (Financial Services).  

7. Background documents1  

7.1   None 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Community Infrastructure Levy Regulation 123 List (September 2014) 

 

 

 

 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 35



 
 

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 
 

REGULATION 123 LIST 
 

September 2014 
 

Regulation 123 provides for the Council to set out a list of those projects or types of 
infrastructure that it intends will be, or may be, wholly or partly funded through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  In order to ensure that individual 
developments are not charged for the same infrastructure items through both 
Section 106 Agreements and the CIL, a S106 contribution or a S278 agreement 
cannot then be made towards an infrastructure item already on the List. 
 

Sustainable transport schemes: 
- New Generation Transport (NGT) 
- Leeds Core Cycle Network 
- The Public Right of Way network 

Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) 
Secondary education 
Primary education, except for large scale residential development identified in the 
Site Allocations Plan, which will be expected to provide primary schools either as an 
integral part of the development or as the result of no more than 5 separate planning 
obligations 
Green infrastructure and public greenspace, except for on-site provision required by 
Core Strategy policies 
Community sports facilities 
Cemeteries  
Public realm improvements, except for on-site provision or where this is required as 
a direct result of an adjacent development 
District heating networks 
Public health facilities 
 
The Council will review this list at least once a year, as part of monitoring of CIL 
collection and spend, and any changes will be justified and subject to appropriate 
local consultation. 
 

The R123 List does not identify priorities for spending within it, or any apportionment 
of the CIL funds across the District, and does not signify a commitment from the 
Council to fund the projects listed through the CIL. 
 

The Council will work with local communities and parish/town councils to agree local 
priorities for spend.  The ‘meaningful proportion’ held by local communities can be 
spent on the R123 List, but it does not have to be. 
 

Page 36



 
ONGOING USE OF SECTION 106 AGREEMENTS 
 
For clarity, the list below provides an outline of the matters which will continue to be 
addressed through S106 or S278 Agreements. 
 

- Affordable housing 
- Employment and skills agreements e.g. local employment or apprentice 

contracts 
- Site specific matters needed to make the development acceptable in planning 

terms, including: 
o New bus connections or services and cycle/pedestrian routes and 

connections if directly required by the development  
o Local junction / highways improvements and access into the site  
o Metrocards, travel plans and monitoring fee / co-ordinator posts 
o Primary schools/extensions as a direct result of large sites or groups of up 

to five sites identified in the Site Allocations Plan 
o On-site greenspace as required by Core Strategy Policies G4 and G5 

(which include requirements for a financial contribution in lieu of on-site 
provision in certain circumstances1).  

o Public realm improvements on-site, and off-site where this is required as a 
direct result of an adjacent development.2 

o On-site drainage and flooding solutions 
o On site sustainable energy requirements 

 
 

                                            
1 Clarification added April 2015 
2 Clarification added April 2015 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support 

Report to Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment)

Date: 25 October 2017

Subject: Work Schedule

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No
If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the Scrutiny Board’s work schedule for the 
forthcoming municipal year.

2 Main Issues
  
2.1 A draft work schedule is attached as appendix 1.  The work programme has been 

provisionally completed pending on going discussions with the Board.  

2.2   When considering the draft work programme effort should be undertaken to:

 Avoid duplication by having a full appreciation of any existing forums already 
having oversight of, or monitoring a particular issue

 Ensure any Scrutiny undertaken has clarity and focus of purpose and will add 
value and can be delivered within an agreed time frame.

 Avoid pure “information items” except where that information is being received as 
part of a policy/scrutiny review

 Seek advice about available resources and relevant timings taking into 
consideration  the workload across the Scrutiny Boards and the type of Scrutiny 
taking place

 Build in sufficient  flexibility to enable the consideration of urgent matters that 
may arise during the year

Report author:  S Pentelow
Tel:  37 88655

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



2.3 With regard to the scheduling changes required for the Child Poverty Inquiry and the 
rescheduling of the inquiry visits the Board will conduct a full meeting on the 16 
November. Visits are now provisionally scheduled for the 23rd, 24th or 29th of 
November.  

2.4 Attached as appendix 2 is the minutes of Executive Board for 20th September 2017. 

3. Recommendations

3.1 Members are asked to:

a) Consider the draft work schedule and make amendments as appropriate.
b) Note the Executive Board minutes

4. Background papers1  - None used

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 40



Draft Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment)  Work Schedule for 2017/2018 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

 Schedule of meetings/visits during 2017/18

Area of review  June  July August

Inquiries Directors Response
Advancing Bus Service Provision

Inquiry  - Scoping and first session
Sustainable Development

Annual work programme 
setting - Board initiated 
pieces of Scrutiny work (if 
applicable)

Consider potential 
areas of review 

Budget Budget update

Pre Decision Scrutiny 

Policy Review Response to Grenfell Towers

Recommendation Tracking

Performance Monitoring Performance Report 

Working Groups

*Prepared by S Pentelow

P
age 41



Draft Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment)  Work Schedule for 2017/2018 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2017/18

Area of review  September   October  November 

Inquiries Evidence Gathering –
Sustainable Development 2

Agree Final Inquiry Report 
Supertram, NGT and Beyond

Evidence Gathering 
Sustainable Development 3

Evidence Gathering 
Sustainable Development 4  

Directors Response
Supertram, NGT and Beyond

Pre Decision Scrutiny    

Policy Review 
Highways Maintenance  - request 
for Scrutiny

Leeds Public Transport 
investment update 

Recommendation Tracking

Performance Monitoring
Traffic Congestion  (requested 
by SB to be scheduled with 
Transport update)

Working Groups

P
age 42



Draft Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment)  Work Schedule for 2017/2018 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2017/18

Area of review  December  January  February   - Single item

Inquiries Evidence Gathering 
Sustainable Development 5 – Final 
Session

Budget and Policy 
Framework

Initial Budget Proposals 2018/19  
and Budget Update 
(Budget and Policy Framework)

 Planning Services Resources
Pre Decision Scrutiny

Policy Review 

Recommendation Tracking Digital Inclusion Advancing Bus Service Provision Inquiry 
– Comprehensive progress review (inc. 
WYCA)

Performance Monitoring Performance Report KSI – Road Safety Review 

Working Groups

P
age 43



Draft Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment)  Work Schedule for 2017/2018 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Infrastructure and Investment) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2017/18

Area of review  March  April May 

Inquiries Agree Final Inquiry Report 
Sustainable Development

Budget and Policy Framework 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
Annual scrutiny review

Pre Decision Scrutiny

Recommendation Tracking Housing Mix 

Performance Monitoring

Working Groups

Potential unscheduled  to be considered-  
 Housing Growth Annual Report – EB report not yet scheduled
 Core Strategy Review (including Housing Target Update)– Potentially Dec onwards

Updated – Oct 2017 *Prepared by S Pentelow

P
age 44



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor J Blake in the Chair

Councillors A Carter, R Charlwood, 
D Coupar, S Golton, J Lewis, R Lewis, 
M Rafique and L Yeadon

 SUBSTITUTE MEMBER:   Councillor J Pryor

APOLOGIES:   Councillor L Mulherin

52 Substitute Member 
Under the provisions of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.1.6, 
Councillor Pryor was invited to attend the meeting on behalf of Councillor 
Mulherin, who had submitted her apologies for absence from the meeting.

53 Late Items 
Although no formal late items of business had been submitted for the Board to 
consider, prior to the meeting and with the Chair’s agreement, Board 
Members had been in receipt of correspondence which provided an additional 
recommendation to agenda item 21 entitled, ‘Leeds Children and Families 
Services’ Sector Led Improvement Role’ (Minute No. 71 refers).

54 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting, 
however, in relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘Leeds Talent and Skills Plan 
– Consultation Draft', Councillor Golton drew the Board’s attention to his role 
as an ‘Inclusive Jobs Champion’ with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. 

In addition, in relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘Request to approve the 
model for continuing Leeds City Council’s Investment in Neighbourhood 
Network Services’, Councillor A Carter drew the Board’s attention to his 
position as Chair of the Farsley, Calverley and Tyresal Live at Home Scheme 

(Minute Nos. 58 and 67 refer).

55 Minutes 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 17th July 2017 be 
approved as a correct record.

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

56 The development of a new park in Moortown and an update on the Parks 
and Countryside Service apprenticeship scheme 
The Director of Communities and Environment submitted a report which 
highlighted the value of community greenspaces in Leeds and how funding 

Page 45



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

from development had been used to support facilitating the improvement of 
existing greenspaces. In addition, the report detailed proposals for the 
establishment of a new park in Moortown, with associated approvals being 
sought regarding injection of funding and ‘authority to spend’, and which also 
highlighted the potential to support the continued expansion of the Parks and 
Countryside services apprenticeship programme. 

Members welcomed the proposals, emphasised the importance of continuing 
to engage with local Ward Members during the development of the project, 
and also welcomed the proposal to establish an associated ‘friends of’ group.

Furthermore, in highlighting the benefits of looking to increase community 
greenspace provision, Members encouraged replicating this scheme in other 
areas across the city, where possible and appropriate. 

RESOLVED -
(a) That the injection together with ‘authority to spend’ of £300k, to be fully 

funded from section 106 monies in order to support the development a 
new park in Moortown, be authorised;

(b) That the future commitment of a further £200k investment to support 
the ongoing maintenance of the site be noted, with the potential for this 
to support the continued expansion of the Parks and Countryside 
services apprenticeship programme also being noted.

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

57 Design and Cost report for the development and delivery of design 
proposals for public realm improvements at Quarry Hill 
Further to Minute No. 48, 17th July 2017, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report outlining proposals for the Council to progress public realm 
improvements to the area of land known as Gateway Court and Playhouse 
Square which sit adjacent to West Yorkshire Playhouse.

Members welcomed the proposals which had been submitted and in response 
to an enquiry, received clarification on aspects of the financial implications 
arising from the proposals. In addition, it was also noted that there was no 
intention from the Council to seek a change in the name of the area known as 
Quarry Hill.

RESOLVED –
(a) That the injection of £1.926m into the Capital Programme (Capital 

Scheme no 32804) towards the proposed public realm improvements 
for the existing green space at Quarry Hill, known as Gateway Court 
and Playhouse Square, be authorised;

(b) That authority to spend £1.926m from the Capital Scheme no. 32804 
for the proposed public realm improvement works to Gateway Court 
and Playhouse Square be approved, subject to the outcome of the 

Page 46



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

planning submission of the scheme and the tender for the proposed 
works being within the project’s cost plan allowance;

(c) That it be noted that in July 2017 Executive Board: gave approval to 
the submission of a planning application later this year for the 
Gateway Court and Playhouse Square landscape proposals under 
development, as presented to this Executive Board for approval in 
principle; and authorised the award of the contract for the proposed 
landscape improvement proposals at Gateway Court and Playhouse 
Square, subject to the tender for the proposed works being within the 
project’s cost plan allowance;

(d) That it be noted that in July 2017, Executive Board approved in 
principle the inclusion of the proposed public realm improvement 
works to Gateway Court and Playhouse Square in the contract for the 
proposed works to the West Yorkshire Playhouse; 

(e) That it be noted that in July 2017, Executive Board gave approval to 
the Council bringing forward for disposal for residential use, the site 
on Quarry Hill previously held for use as a coach layover facility and 
to the use of the subsequent capital receipt to contribute towards the 
cost of the proposed public realm improvement works at Gateway 
Court and Playhouse Square;

(f) That subject to consultation with the Executive Member for 
Regeneration, Transport and Planning, approval be given to 
authorise the Director of City Development to negotiate and approve 
the final terms of all legal agreements associated with the delivery of 
the project, in accordance with the Council’s officer delegation 
scheme.

EMPLOYMENT, SKILLS AND OPPORTUNITY

58 Leeds Talent and Skills Plan - Consultation Draft 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which set out the recent 
work undertaken in order to develop the first Leeds Talent and Skills Plan for 
the period 2017 – 2023. The report outlined the work undertaken so far in 
preparation of the draft, together with the approach being taken towards 
proposed publication in the autumn.

Responding to Members’ comments, it was highlighted that the aim of the 
Council was to attract new employers into the city, adding to those already 
operating in Leeds, in order to provide a whole range of job opportunities for 
local communities. In addition, the aim was also to ensure that such 
employers provided social value in line with Council’s ambitions. With regard 
to the issue of relocating jobs from other parts of the UK into Leeds, the Board 
was provided with further detail of the benefits that such relocation would 
bring to the local economy.  

Page 47



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

Emphasis was also placed upon the important role to be played by the 
Apprenticeship Levy in the promotion and creation of opportunities, whilst 
Members also highlighted the collaborative approach which needed to be 
taken with partners in order to ensure that Leeds citizens had the appropriate 
skills base in order to fully benefit from current and future employment and 
skills opportunities.

In conclusion, Members looked forward to receiving information which 
provided the outcomes of the proposed consultation exercise. Also, having 
received an update on the current position regarding the employment 
opportunities being brought to the local economy by Burberry, it was 
suggested that further evaluation of such matters could be submitted to the 
Board at the appropriate time for consideration.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the publication of the Leeds Talent and Skills Plan draft be 

approved for the purposes of consultation;

(b) That the approach proposed by officers to engage with business and 
stakeholders and to seek specific commitments, be supported;

(c) That agreement be given to the Plan being published in the autumn of 
2017;

(d) That it be noted that the Head of Employment Access and Growth will 
be responsible for the implementation of such matters.

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

59 The New Leisure and Wellbeing Centre for East Leeds 
Further to Minute No. 119, 14th December 2016, the Director of City 
Development submitted a report providing an update on the progress which 
had been made in developing proposals for a new leisure and wellbeing 
centre for inner east Leeds, and which sought agreement of the preferred site, 
for the purposes of consultation and further feasibility works.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board was provided with further 
information in respect of proposals regarding the associated financial delivery 
model for the project.

RESOLVED –
(a) That approval be given for the site of the new inner east Leeds Leisure 

and Wellbeing Centre to be within the boundary, as set out within 
Appendix A to the submitted report;

(b) That following resolution (a) above, approval be given to the 
commencement of a public consultation exercise, the outcome of which 
will be used to inform the future facility mix of the new centre and to 
comment upon the site proposal;

Page 48



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

(c) That following the conclusion of the consultation exercise, ‘authority to 
spend’ of £300k be approved to commission a feasibility study to 
develop proposals for a new Leisure and Wellbeing centre at a new 
location within the existing Fearnville Leisure Centre and surrounding 
site;

(d) That the current position regarding progress made on the wider ‘Vision 
for Leisure & Wellbeing Centres’ programme be noted, and that it also 
be noted that further updates will be submitted to Executive Board for 
consideration in February 2018; 

(e) That it be noted that the Head of Sport and Active Lifestyles will be 
responsible for the implementation of such matters. 

60 Financial Health Monitoring 2017/18 - Month 4 
The Chief Officer (Financial Services) submitted a report presenting details of 
the Council’s projected financial health position for 2017/18 as at month 4 of 
the financial year. In addition, the report sought approval of a virement to 
increase the Children and Families budget in order to provide resource to fund 
the additional costs of children looked after, whilst the report also sought 
approval for an adjustment to the 2016-17 outturn and general reserve, 
following the identification of two post balance sheet events, as detailed within 
the submitted report.

Responding to an enquiry, the Board was provided with assurances that 
appropriate processes were in place with regard to the Council’s Carbon 
Reduction Commitment submission.  Linked to this, Members also briefly 
discussed the issue of street lighting provision in the city.

Members noted the proposed virement to increase the Children and Families 
budget in order to fund the additional costs of children looked after, with it 
being noted that the level of demands on resource in this area would continue 
to be monitored, as part of established budget monitoring processes.

The Board also received further information regarding the Council’s approach 
towards the provision of reserves.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the projected financial position of the authority, as at month 4, be 

noted, together with the ongoing work within the Children and Families 
directorate to balance the revenue budget; 

(b) That a virement to increase the Children and Families budget by £3.7m 
in order to provide resources to fund the additional costs of children 
looked after, be approved; with it being noted that the officer 
responsible for the implementation of such matters is the Chief Officer 
(Financial Services), together with the fact that the virement will be 
actioned before the next reporting period;

Page 49



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

(c) That the adjustments to the 2016-17 outturn and general reserve, 
following the identification of the two post balance sheet events, as 
outlined within the submitted report, be approved. 

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

61 Leeds Local Plan - Adoption of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
Further to Minute No. 194, 19th April 2017, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report which sought Executive Board’s approval to recommend 
that Council adopt the submission draft Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan 
(AVLAAP), together with the Main Modifications to it, as recommended by the 
independent Inspector.

Members welcomed the advanced stage that the AVLAAP had now reached, 
and thanked all concerned for the work which had been undertaken to enable 
it to reach this stage.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received an update and further 
information regarding a proposal for the potential development of a rolling 
stock depot for HS2 within the AVLAAP area, a matter which was currently 
the subject of public consultation.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the recommendations and proposed Main Modifications of the 

Inspector, as detailed within their report (dated August 2017) at 
Appendix 1 to the submitted cover report, be noted;

(b) That Council be recommended to adopt the Aire Valley Leeds Area 
Action Plan, as submitted for examination and including: the Main 
Modifications recommended by the Inspector (as detailed within the 
submitted Appendix 1; map changes at Appendix 2 and the Additional 
Modifications at Appendix 3), pursuant to Section 23 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended); 

(c) That any further additional modifications which are required to be made 
as grammatical, consequential or factual updates, be delegated to the 
Chief Planning Officer in consultation with the relevant Executive 
Member.

(In accordance with the Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure
Rules, the matters referred to within this minute were not eligible for Call In as 
the power to Call In decisions does not extend to those decisions made in 
accordance with the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules)

62 Key Junction Improvements (CIP Phase 1) 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought support for 
the development of junction improvement schemes at Dawson’s Corner, 
Dyneley Arms and Fink Hill, together with relevant approvals for ‘authority to 
spend’, from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority ‘Corridor Improvement 

Page 50



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

Programme’ grant, in order to enable the progression of Phase 1 scheme 
development.

Members welcomed the proposals, highlighted the need to ensure that local 
Ward Members were kept informed and also emphasised the need for a 
comprehensive consultation exercise to be undertaken in respect of the three 
schemes. 

With specific emphasis to Dawson’s Corner, a Member highlighted the need 
to ensure that the proposed changes enabled fluent traffic movement through 
the junction.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That in principle support be given to the development of junction 

improvement schemes at Dawson’s Corner, Dyneley Arms and Fink 
Hill, together with land acquisition where required, with it being noted 
that the West Yorkshire Combined Authority has approved in principle 
sufficient capital to substantially fund the implementation under the 
Corridor Improvement Programme (CIP);

(b) That ‘authority to spend’ £1.525M, which is funded from the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority CIP grant be approved in order to  
enable Phase 1 of the scheme development, in advance of signing the 
grant funding agreements, if required;

(c) That it be noted that officers will return to Executive Board in order to 
seek approval for the construction of Phase 1 schemes, subject to the 
outcome of the development work and consultation; 

(d) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Highways and Transportation is 
responsible for the programme delivery, with a substantial completion 
date of March 2021.

 
63 Delivering the East of Otley Housing Allocation 

The Director of City Development submitted a report which sought approval to 
the key principles of a potential transaction for land in the Council’s ownership 
that would enable the development of the East of Otley mixed use 
development allocation.

RESOLVED –
(a) That the Heads of Terms, as outlined in section 3.11 of the submitted 

report be approved, in order to enable a detailed agreement to be 
developed for further consideration by Executive Board; 

(b) That the proposal to develop a marginal viability application with the 
developers of the East of Otley site, for submission to the Housing 
Infrastructure Fund (HIF), be noted. 

Page 51



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

64 Phase 2 Leeds (River Aire) Flood Alleviation Scheme 
Further to Minute No. 170, 20th April 2016, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report providing an update on the emerging proposals for the 
Phase Two River Aire Leeds Flood Alleviation Scheme in advance of 
widespread engagement with stakeholders. In addition, the report sought 
approval for the submission of funding applications, together with the 
subsequent undertaking of an accelerated package of advanced works.

Members welcomed the innovative proposals which had been submitted and 
how they would build upon phase one of the scheme. With regard to phase 
two, Members specifically welcomed the ‘whole catchment’ approach which 
was being taken.

With regard to phase two, the Chair welcomed the offers of cross-party 
support which had been made during the discussion in respect of approaching 
Government for the financial support required to deliver such proposals.

RESOLVED –
(a) That the emerging proposals for Phase Two in relation to Natural Flood 

Management; the construction of actively controlled river floodwater 
storage areas; the removal of existing obstacles effecting the river 
channel in high flow events; and the residual construction of linear 
defences and potential terracing, be noted;

(b) That widespread engagement to be undertaken with stakeholders on 
the emerging proposals, be approved; 

(c) That support be given to ensure that defence works are progressed as 
quickly as possible; that the submission of business cases to ascertain 
funding in relation to £3.4m of advanced works be endorsed; and 
subject to the outcome of those business cases, that the necessary 
‘authority to spend’ for the undertaking of such works be delegated to 
the Director of City Development, in consultation with the Director of 
Resources and Housing;

(d) That it be noted that a further report will be submitted to Executive 
Board in December 2017 which seeks approval of the outline business 
case submission to the Department of Environment, Food & Rural 
Affairs and the subsequent planning application submission.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

65 Better Lives - Phase 3 Implementation 
Further to Minute Nos. 136 and 153, 8th February 2017, the Director of Adults 
and Health submitted a report providing an update regarding the 
implementation of Phase 3 of the Council’s ‘Better Lives’ programme.

Responding to Members’ enquiries, the Board was advised that currently, 
there were no plans to submit to the Board a report which considered a fourth 

Page 52



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

phase of the Better Lives Programme, although it was highlighted that such 
matters would continue to be kept under review. 

With regard to former residents of The Green, again responding to an enquiry, 
the Board was provided with further information and context in respect of the 
choices which had been made by those residents and their families in respect 
of the homes that they had moved into. During the discussion, it was also 
acknowledged that Councillor A Carter was currently in correspondence with 
the Director of Adults and Health in respect of specific issues regarding The 
Green.

Members also discussed the submitted evaluation data regarding the 
outcomes from the former users of the Radcliffe Lane Day Centre. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the successful transfer of all customers to alternative services, 

where that was their preference, be noted;

(b) That it be noted that the closure of all establishments has been 
achieved without any compulsory redundancies, with staff having made 
a successful transition to their new posts within the Council, where they 
have chosen to remain in employment;

(c) That the planned opening date of November 2017 for The Green as a 
new recovery facility, as part of the Council’s wider Leeds Recovery 
Service, be noted. 

66 Adults and Health Regulated Services Quality Account 
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report presenting the 2017 
‘Quality Account’ in respect of regulated Social Care services (those 
registered and inspected by the Care Quality Commission) for Leeds.

In receiving the submitted Quality Account, the Board discussed the aim of 
developing a ‘one city’ approach towards the evaluation of quality of care 
provision, and also discussed the options available, together with the potential 
restrictions regarding the role which could be played by members of the local 
community in such processes.

In addition, responding to an enquiry, Members were assured that the Council 
liaised with those Local Authorities who performed highly in this area, in order 
to share experience of good practice.

RESOLVED –
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted; that the work 

outlined within it to deliver improvements be supported; and that 
approval be given for the publication of the Adults and Health Quality 
Account for Leeds, as appended to the submitted report; 

(b) That it be noted that the Head of Commissioning (Contracts and 
Business Development) for Adults and Health will ensure that the 

Page 53



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

Quality Account 2017 is published on the Leeds City Council website 
by the end of this calendar year.

67 Request to approve the model for continuing Leeds City Council's 
investment in Neighbourhood Network services from 1st October 2018 
The Director of Adults and Health submitted a report which sought approval to 
proceed with the proposals to establish new arrangements for the funding, 
length of agreement and awarding mechanism for Neighbourhood Network 
services from 1st October 2018.

Members welcomed the proposals and highlighted the crucial role played by 
Neighbourhood Network services across the city, with an emphasis being 
placed upon the need to continue to raise awareness of the valued work 
undertaken by those organisations.

Responding to an enquiry, the Board was provided with further information 
regarding the formula which had been used for the submitted funding 
proposals, and a Member highlighted the need to ensure that the funding 
arrangements for such organisations was regularly evaluated in order to 
ensure the sustainability of those organisations. 

RESOLVED – That the following proposals be approved:-

(a) To continue the contributory funding of Neighbourhood Network 
services for a further 5 years based largely on the current mapping of 
the city. This investment to commence on 1st October 2018 through to 
30th September 2023, with the proviso to review the service prior to the 
expiry of the agreement and to seek approval for the continuation of 
the grant agreement for a further 5 years on a rolling programme. The 
formal approval process will be adhered to at the appropriate juncture.

(b) To move away from the current contracting approach to long term grant 
arrangements based on core, central principles aligned with the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021, the Better Lives Strategy 
2017-2022 and Best Council Plan 2017/18. A fair, open and 
transparent competitive grants process to be utilised for the award of 
funding. This would be based 100% on quality, and the price for each 
Neighbourhood Network area will be set before going to market, as per 
the details within Appendix 2 to the submitted report;

(c) To standardise the funding currently labelled as either dementia add-on 
or additional funding as core funding for those areas affected (16 in 
total); 

(d) To increase the overall value of the contract by a further £564,967 per 
annum, with the areas that currently receive the lowest investment 
seeing the greatest uplifts;

Page 54



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

(e) To engage on a case by case basis with current providers adjacent to 
unallocated areas of the city in order to redefine the boundaries to be 
covered by the funding allocation;

(f) That Commissioning Officers (Adults and Health) engage in the work 
necessary to develop the funding agreement document and formalise 
how processes will be managed for the award of funding for the 
ensuing 5 year period covered by the submitted report, with these 
proposals being submitted to the Director for Adults and Health for 
approval before going to market to set arrangements in place.

68 Delivery of the Leeds 'Person Held Record' (PHR) Programme 
The Director of Adults and Health and the Director of Resources and Housing 
submitted a joint report regarding the development and proposed rollout of the 
‘Personal Held Record’ programme in Leeds, with the report also seeking 
approval of the relevant expenditure.

Responding to an enquiry, assurance was provided with regard to the level of 
security that the system would use in order to protect the data within it.

RESOLVED – That approval be given to initially incur expenditure of £590K 
(year one) of a total of £1,800K over three years, in order to develop and 
rollout the ‘Personal Held Record’ programme in Leeds for those reasons as 
outlined within the submitted report, with subsequent releases of funding 
being subject to successful progress and gateway reviews.

CHILDREN'S AND FAMILIES

69 Outcome of a statutory notice to change the lower age limit of 
Hovingham Primary School from 3-11 years to 2-11 years 
Further to Minute No. 7, 21st June 2017, the Director of Children and Families 
submitted a report which detailed the outcome of a statutory notice regarding 
a  proposal to change the age range of Hovingham Primary School from 3 - 
11 to 2 - 11 years, and which sought a final decision in respect of such 
matters.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the proposal to permanently change the lower age limit of 

Hovingham Primary School from 3 years to 2, changing the school’s 
age range from 3-11 years to 2-11 years, with effect from October 
2017, be approved, which will enable the school to deliver free early 
education entitlement for eligible 2 year olds;

(b) That it be noted that the responsible officer for implementation of such 
matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

70 The Role of Learning Improvement in driving up standards, with a focus 
on Vulnerable Learners 
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which focussed upon 
the role of the Council with regard to learning, and the development of the 

Page 55



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

education system in the city. The report also considered the collaborative 
approach being taken towards the delivery of education provision in Leeds, 
and how this could be developed further.

Responding to an enquiry, the Board was provided with further information on 
the bespoke approaches being taken to further develop the Council’s learning 
improvement objectives with a range of cohorts across the city.

Members also discussed the current position in respect of the Education 
Services Grant (ESG).

Following a suggestion that this matter be referred to the relevant Scrutiny 
Board for consideration, it was noted that the Scrutiny Board (Children and 
Families) was currently conducting an inquiry into ‘the impact of child poverty 
on attainment, achievement and attendance’, and it was undertaken that the 
Scrutiny Board would be made aware of the matters being considered today, 
should they wish to take them into consideration either as part of that inquiry 
or associated work.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That it be acknowledged that the Council has an important role to play 

in the future of education;

(b) That it be agreed that the Council should use Learning Improvement in 
order to develop a model for collaboration between schools and 
settings;

(c) That it be recognised that co-operation between schools and settings 
should be enhanced;

(d) That agreement be given to develop a stronger collaboration with key 
comparative cities in order to strengthen the learning improvement 
offer across Leeds, which will be developed in the next 12 months;

(e) That the future plans to reduce the learning gaps for vulnerable 
learners, be acknowledged;

(f) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Chief Officer Learning Improvement.

71 Leeds Children and Families' Services Sector Led Improvement Role 
The Director of Children and Families submitted a report which reviewed  the 
Children and Families directorate’s recent and ongoing work with other Local 
Authorities in order to support their improvement, and which also set out the 
proposed plans for developing the directorate’s future role in the field of sector 
led improvement.

Responding to an enquiry regarding the Council’s sector led improvement 
role, assurances were provided that as part of the ongoing negotiation 

Page 56



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

process which was currently taking place, sufficient resource would be 
maintained for Leeds whilst the Local Authority undertook this role. 

Prior to the meeting, Board Members had received correspondence proposing 
the incorporation of an additional recommendation to the submitted report. 
The additional recommendation was considered alongside the submitted 
agenda, and it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted, with the agreement 

that support continues to be provided in respect of the improvement 
agenda in Children and Families in Leeds;

(b) That in relation to the development of a formal Improvement Partnership 
between Leeds City Council, Kirklees and the Department for Education, 
the necessary authority be delegated to the Chief Executive, in 
consultation with the Director of Children and Families, the Executive 
Member for Children and Families and the City Solicitor, in order to 
enable him to undertake the negotiation and agreement of the detailed 
terms of the partnership agreement, and other agreements and 
arrangements to be implemented.

COMMUNITIES

72 Citizens@Leeds:  Tackling Poverty and Supporting Communities - 
Update 
Further to Minute No. 62, 21st September 2016, the Director of Communities 
and Environment submitted a report providing an update on the progress 
which had been made in supporting communities and tackling poverty in 
Leeds over the past 12 months, presented the ongoing and planned activities 
for the forthcoming year, whilst also providing information on key challenges 
in this area.

Responding to enquiries, the Board was provided with further information on 
how ‘Priority Neighbourhoods’ had been identified, and the collaborative 
approach which would be taken to ensure the delivery of an ‘enhanced focus’ 
upon those neighbourhoods. It was noted that a further report regarding the 
Priority Neighbourhoods was currently scheduled to be submitted to the Board 
in November 2017, and it was undertaken that Councillors A Carter and 
Golton be provided with a briefing on related matters prior to the further report 
being submitted to the Board.

In conclusion, Members thanked officers within the Financial Inclusion team 
for the valuable work which they continued to undertake.

RESOLVED –
(a) That the information as detailed within the submitted report be noted;

(b) That the progress made in delivering against the actions which had 
been identified for 2016/17 be noted;

Page 57



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 18th October, 2017

(c) That the key activities being delivered in 2017/18 be noted;

(d) That a report be submitted in a further 12 months, which sets out the 
progress made in respect of supporting communities and tackling 
poverty.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 22ND SEPTEMBER 2017

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: FRIDAY, 29TH SEPTEMBER 2017

Page 58


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 27 September 2017
	7 Scrutiny Inquiry - Sustainable Development - Session 3
	Sustainable Development - Session 3
	Principles governing the management and collection of the CIL

	Appendix 1 Regulation 123 list
	App 1 CIL Regulation123 List
	Appendix xa Regulation 123 list Amendments

	App 2 Table of Current Position S106 Monies 06102017
	App 3 Table of S106 Income  Expenditure Year Trends 06102017
	Appendix 4 Exec Board CIL July17
	Exec board CIL Cover Report 270617
	Exec Board CIL Report Appendix 1 270617


	8 Work Schedule
	Work Schedule Template Infrastructure and Investment
	Printed minutes 20th-Sep-2017 13.00 Executive Board


